## THE BVRLINGTON MAGAZINE



A visit to Titian's studio | Borromini in Siena

The rediscovery of Palmyra and Baalbek | Whistler paints Henry Irving | Switch House at Tate Modern

Ancient Sicily | The Altenberg altar | Turner and colour | Winifred Knights | Black Mountain College Hockney portraits | Painters' Paintings | Bruce Conner | Lukas Duwenhögger

## Publications Received

I patriarchi di Venezia e l'architettura: La cattedrale di Venezia nel Rinascimente. By Gianmario Guidarelli. 293 pp. incl. 75 col. + b. & w. ills. (Il Poligrafo, Padua, 2015), €25. ISBN 88-7115-898-9.

The site of the former cathedral of Venice, S. Pietro di Castello, literally 'isolated' on an island on the far eastern tip of the city, seems at first sight to suggest a deliberate marginalisation of ecclesiastical authority. After all, throughout its history, Venice struggled to retain its independence from the Papacy. From the ninth century, when the Republic acquired the relics of the Apostle Mark, civic devotion centred on the church

of S. Marco, the ducal chapel and shrine for the saint's remains, located at the heart of the city.

Nevertheless, such an interpretation does not reflect the true history of S. Pietro, as Guidarelli's magisterial book explains. The island of Olivolo, later known as Castello because of its castle, was one of the first of the lagoon islands to be settled around the fifth century. Its position, facing the main muritime entrance to the lagoon from the Adriatic, was strategic and far from marginal. Rebuilt after a fire in 1120, the cathedral remained in use until its eventual reconstruction in its present form five hundred years later. The magnificence of the medieval cathedral, together with its baptistery and episcopal palace, must have been striking, as the author's careful reconstruction indicates.

Guidarelli's lucid, eye-opening account demonstrates the crucial role of the individual patriarchs (bishops) in the architectural development of the site. The development that determined the future history of S. Pietro was the suppression of the patriarchy of Grado in 1451 and its replacement by the new patriarchy of Venice, centred at S. Pietro di Castello. The first incumbent, Lorenzo Giustinian, was later canonised, and his legacy inspired much of the later artistic and liturgical transformation of the cathedral.

Mauro Codussi's innovative cladding of the campanile in white Istrian stone in 1482, under the patriarch Maffeo Gherardo, provided both a landmark for the city and a beacon for seafarers entering the lagoon. Palladio's design for a new façade was his first major commission in Venice, although the death of the patriarch Vincenzo Diedo in 1559 led to the project's abandonment until it was resumed in 1596 by Francesco Smeraldi.

Behind the new façade the rebuilding of the cathedral itself was begun in 1623 by Giovanni Grappiglia under the patriarch Giovanni Tiepolo. Provoked by the derelict state of the medieval cathedral, the initiative is seen here in the context of Counter-Reformation ideals in the aftermath of the interdict of 1606. Seeking simplicity, transparency and luminosity, the new church also became a shrine for the relics of Lorenzo Giustinian, anticipating his canonisation in 1690.

Guidarelli's book is concise, but rich in new ideas. Not only does he provide an illuminating account of the cathedral's evolution in terms of architecture, urban space, ritual and religious reform, but he also considers the developments at S. Pietro in relation to those of other religious institutions in the city. Relevant documents are published in the appendix. Above all, Guidarelli offers an authoritative account of the ways in which the patriarchs influenced the island's architectural and urban transformations, seen against the background of politics and religious history. This admirable book rescues S. Pietro di Castello from the margins and reinstates it as a site of innovation and influence.

DEBORAH HOWARD